
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 
Steven Yahnke, )       

) No.  
Plaintiff,                                 )  

)   
v.                                             )  

)        
County of Kane, Kane County Sheriff, ) 
Patrick Perez, in his official and   ) 
Individual capacities,   ) 

) 
Defendants.   ) 

 
 

COMPLAINT 
 

NOW COMES, Plaintiff, STEVEN YAHNKE, by and through his attorneys, 

DELANEY LAW, P.C., and in complaint of Defendants, the County of Kane, Kane County 

Sheriff, Patrick Perez in his official capacity and Patrick Perez in his individual capacity states 

as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff, Steven Yahnke, a former employee of the County of Kane, seeks redress for 

his unlawful termination by Patrick Perez from the Kane County Sheriff’s office.  In 

particular, on October 28, 2008, the Defendants terminated Plaintiff’s employment 

because of political affiliation and favoritism and without any due process of the law.  

Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff requests a trial by 

jury.   
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JURISIDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This action arises under the First and Fourth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution, as made applicable to the Defendants by the due process clause of the 

Fourteenth Amendment thereto, under Sections 1983 and 1988(b) and (c) of Title 42 of 

the United States Code. 

3. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action under Sections 1331 

and 1343 of Title 28 of the United States Code because this action arises under the 

Constitution and laws of the United States, because it is brought to redress the 

deprivation of the Plaintiff’s federal constitutional rights. 

4. Venue is this district is proper under 28 USC § 1391(b). The Defendant resides in this 

district and the events giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims occurred here. 

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff, Steven Yahnke (hereinafter “Yahnke”), is a citizen of the United States and the 

State of Illinois and resides in Kane County, Illinois.  At all material times to this 

complaint Yahnke was employed by the Defendant County of Kane, Kane County 

Sheriff’s Office and Patrick Perez, in Kane County, Illinois. 

6. Defendant COUNTY OF KANE (hereinafter sometimes referred to as “Kane 

County”) at all times relevant to this Complaints is a body politic and corporate 

pursuant to 55 ILCS 5/5-1001. 

7. Defendant PATRICK PEREZ is the Sheriff of Kane County and is a Defendant in 

both his individual and official capacity. 

Case: 1:12-cv-05151 Document #: 1 Filed: 06/27/12 Page 2 of 11 PageID #:2



 
_________ COMPLAINT Page 3 of 11 
  

DELANEY LAW, P.C. 
444 N Wabash Ave., Third Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60611 
(312) 276-0263 

8. The Kane County Sheriff’s office is controlled and operated under the direction of 

Patrick Perez and Kane County. 

9. At all times material, Defendants were an employer as defined by 29 USC § 2611. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

10. In the fall of 2001 both Defendant, Patrick Perez (hereinafter “Perez”) and Yahnke 

were interested in running against then Sheriff Ramsey (a Republican) for Sheriff of 

Kane County. 

11. Yahnke would have run as a Republican and have been in the Republican primary with 

Sheriff Ramsey. 

12. Yahnke hired a campaign manager and had approximately $15,000 in money and 

pledges, but decided that he would not pursue the campaign. 

13. After Yahnke decided not to peruse his campaign for Sheriff, Perez ran against Sheriff 

Ramsey and Perez lost. 

14. In the spring of 2006 Perez planned to run unopposed as a Democrat and Joe Pena 

announced that he would run on the Republican ticket (Sheriff Ramsey had since 

resigned). 

15. Yahnke tried to convince Perez to run as a Republican, but Perez refused to. 

16. Kevin Williams (hereinafter “Williams”) later announced he was running against Pena 

for the Republican Party necessitating a primary election. 

17. Yahnke vocally supported Williams as the Republican candidate in the 

spring/summer/fall of 2006. 

18. Williams won the Republican nomination in the fall of 2006. 
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19. Up through the election Yahnke continued to vigorously and vocally support Williams’s 

campaign for Sheriff of Kane County after the primary, including, but not limited to, 

raising funds, attending campaign meetings and placing signs. 

20. Perez won the election and became Sheriff of Kane County on December 2006. 

21. On June 28, 2007, just over six months after Perez was elected Sheriff, Yahnke was 

injured on the job. 

22. Thereafter, a multitude of fictitious complaints and investigations arose into Yahnke’s 

job, including, but not limited to: his previously approved secondary employment, his 

alleged failure to submit a travel request when off work due to his work injury, his 

comp time, and his light duty work which had previously been granted through the 

chain of command. 

23. In 2008 Steven Ziman (hereinafter “Ziman”) held the title of Undersheriff, was 

personally sought out by Perez for the position of Undersheriff and was second in 

command to Perez. 

24. During the discussion of what discipline would be meted out to Yahnke based upon 

one of the fictitious complaints, Ziman asked Perez what type of discipline he would 

give Yahnke to which Perez responded, “I am going to fire him because some day he is going to 

run against me for Sheriff.” 

25. Upon information and belief Perez believed that out of all the possible Republican 

candidates for Sheriff Yahnke stood the best chance of beating him. 

26. The allegation in Paragraph 23 was discovered for the first time by Yahnke during the 

deposition of Steven Ziman on March 27, 2012. 
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27. Thereafter on October 28, 2008, Yahnke was terminated by Perez. 

28. The decision to terminate Yahnke was not based upon any legitimate workplace 

performance issue, but was based upon political favoritism and affiliation.   

29. Yahnke was not afforded a hearing and was not afforded any due process of the law 

with respect to his termination 

COUNT I 
42 U.S.C. § 1983 Patronage Dismissal in Violation of the First Amendment 
 

30. Yahnke restates and reallages paragraphs one through twenty-nine (1-29) as and for this 

Count I. 

31. Yahnke was and is guaranteed certain rights under the First Amendment to the United 

States Constitution to be free from discrimination based upon political affiliation, 

sponsorship and favoritism. 

32. Yahnke was terminated because Patrick Perez, Sheriff of Kane County believed that 

Yahnke would run against him in a Sheriff election. 

33. Defendant, Patrick Perez did not consider Yahnke to be a political ally of himself nor of 

the Democratic party. 

34. Perez was well informed of Yahnke’s political affiliations with the party and 

administration. 

35. Prior to his termination Yahnke had no close contact with any Kane County 

policymakers. 

36. Prior to his termination Yahnke had no highly confidential communication with any 

Kane County policymakers. 

37. Prior to his termination Yahnke had no autonomous or discretionary authority. 
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38. Prior to his termination Yahnke did not participate in determining policy which fixed 

objectives, or stated principles to control action toward operating objectives, or toward 

the conduct of Kane County and/or Kane County Sheriff or any other administrative 

units immediately subordinate to the Sheriff of Kane County, Patrick Perez. 

39. Prior to his termination Yahnke’s actions were at all-time subject to the approval by 

Defendants, as well as, additional levels of management approval. 

40. Prior to his termination Yahnke did not act authoritatively on any policy-making issue 

impacting Kane County and/or Sheriff of Kane County or their operations. 

41. Prior to his termination Yahnke had no meaningful input into government decisions 

making on issues where there was room for principled disagreement on goals or their 

interpretation. 

42. Prior to his termination Yahnke did not act as an advisor to Defendants, nor did 

Yahnke formulate plans for implementation of broad goals. 

43. Prior to his termination Yahnke’s responsibilities were tightly constrained by state, 

county and department rules and regulations. 

44. Prior to his termination Yahnke had no broad discretionary policymaking powers. 

45. Yahnke’s termination did not further any vital government interest. 

46. Yahnke’s termination did not further a vital government interest by means that was the 

least restrictive to freedom of speech and association. 

47. The effective operation of government was not compromised by Yahnke’s political 

affiliation. 
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48. Political affiliation is not an appropriate requirement for effective performance of 

Yahnke’s position. 

49. Yahnke’s position as deputy with the Kane County Sheriff’s office is not a policy-

making position for which political affiliation is an appropriate requirement for the 

effective performance of that position. 

50. Patrick Perez unlawfully based his decision to terminate Plaintiff based upon his belief 

that Yahnke would run against him for Sheriff someday which is based upon Perez’s 

belief of Yahnke’s political affiliation, support and allegiance. 

51. Defendants, acting under the color of state law, deprived Yahnke of his rights under the 

First Amendment of the United States Constitution in violation of 42 U.S.C. §1983 and 

legal precedents clearly established at the time of the termination. 

52. Defendants’ actions were and are the proximate cause of injury and damage to Yahnke. 

53. Defendants’ actions to terminate Yahnke in violation of his First Amendment rights of 

free speech and association irreparably harmed Yahnke. 

54. The actions of all Defendants were intentional, willful, and malicious and/or or in 

reckless disregard for Yahnke’s rights as secured by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, as amended by 

the Civil Rights Action of 1991, in violation of the United States Constitution as 

applicable to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment. 

55. Defendants’ actions were done with deliberate oppression and were done willfully or 

with such gross negligence as to indicate wanton disregard for rights of Yahnke. 

56. The actions of Defendants were taken in an effort to terminate Yahnke for reasons 

wholly unrelated to legitimate objective. 
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57. The actions of Defendants in terminating Yahnke are likely to chill the exercise of 

constitutionally protected free speech and association of others in a comparable 

position. 

58. Yahnke was terminated without cause or justification. 

59. No reasonable cause or justification existed to terminate Yahnke’s employment. 

60. By wrongfully discharging Yahnke without cause or justification Defendants acted 

willfully and with malice toward Yahnke. 

61. Upon information and belief the County of Kane supports, through its policies and 

customs an unlawful patronage system. 

62. As a direct and proximate result of the actions of the Defendants  in intentionally 

making unlawful patronage-based employment decisions to the detriment of Yahnke 

has caused Yahnke great mental anguish, humiliation, degradation, physical and 

emotion pain and suffering, inconvenience, lost wages and benefits, future pecuniary 

losses, and other consequential damages. 

WHEREFORE, Steven Yahnke requests this Honorable Court enter judgment in favor of 

Steven Yahnke and award Yahnke: 

A. Enter a permanent injunction ordering Defendants to reinstate Plaintiff to the position 

of Deputy/Sergeant, with all attendant wages and benefits, retroactive to October 28, 

2008. 

B. Compensatory damages to Plaintiff in an amount in excess of  one million dollars 

($1,000,000.00), jointly and severally against each of the named Defendants; 

C. Punitive damages as allowed by law; 
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D. All wages and benefits Plaintiff would have received but for the unlawful 

discrimination, including pre-judgment interest; 

E. Attorneys’ fees and costs and expenses of this litigation as permitted by 42 U.S.C. § 

1988; and 

F. Grant such other relief as the Honorable Court deems just and equitable. 

COUNT II 
42 U.S.C. § 1983 Violation of Due Process in Violation of the Fourteenth Amendment 

 
63. Yahnke restates and reallages paragraphs one through sixty-two(1-62) as and for this 

Count II. 

64. Yahnke has a property interest in his continued employment with the County of Kane, 

Sheriff’s Office, as well as benefits, such as salary associated with that employment, 

which could not be lawfully taken away without due process of law. On October 28, 

2008, Yahnke was terminated, without cause and for improper purposes, from his 

employment with the County of Kane. 

65. Prior to his termination Yahnke was not afforded any hearing, including a hearing by 

the merit Commission nor independent arbitration. 

66. To date Yahnke has not been afforded a hearing by the merit Commission, independent 

arbitration nor any other type of hearing relating to the merits of his termination. 

67. The Defendants’ deprivation of Yahnke’s rights without due process has caused 

Yahnke great mental anguish, humiliation, degradation, physical and emotional pain and 

suffering, inconvenience, lost wages and benefits, future pecuniary losses, and other 

consequential damages. 
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68. The actions of Defendants were intentional, willful, and malicious and/or in reckless 

disregard for Plaintiff’s rights as secured by 42 U.S.C. §1983, as amended by the Civil 

Rights Act of 1991, in violation of the United States Constitution as applicable to the 

states by the Fourteenth Amendment. 

WHEREFORE, Steven Yahnke requests this Honorable Court enter judgment in favor of 

Steven Yahnke and award Yahnke: 

A. Enter a permanent injunction ordering Defendants to reinstate Plaintiff to the position 

of Deputy/Sergeant, with all attendant wages and benefits, retroactive to October 28 

2008. 

B. Compensatory damages to Plaintiff in an amount in excess of $500,000, jointly and 

severally against each of the named Defendants; 

C. Punitive damages as allowed by law; 

D. All wages and benefits Plaintiff would have received but for the unlawful 

discrimination, including pre-judgment interest; 

E. Attorneys’ fees and costs and expenses of this litigation; and 

F. Grant such other relief as the Honorable Court deems just and equitable. 

COUNT III (plead in the alternative) 
Retaliatory Discharge/Worker’s Compensation 

 
69. Yahnke pleads this Count III in the alternative. 

70. Yahnke has filed two separate claims under the terms of the Illinois Worker’s 

Compensation Act 820 ILCS 305/1 et. seq. (hereinafter “the Act”) which arose out of 

injuries that were in the course of an arose out of Yahnke’s employment with the 

Defendants. 
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71. Under the Act, Yahnke is entitled to make claims for such injuries and to receive 

compensation for the same. 

72. The termination of Yahnke’s employment by the Defendants was the result of, in 

significant part, to the exercise by Yahnke of his rights under the Act in contradiction of 

305/4(h) of said Act and the public policy of the State of Illinois and for the exercise of 

additional rights granted to Yahnke. 

WHEREFORE, Yahnke prays for Judgment in his favor and against Defendants and for an 

order from this court that: 

A. Requires the Defendants have an obligation to make Steven Yahnke whole and 

reinstatement him at an assignment appropriate to his rank and physical restrictions; 

B. Require the Defendants to pay back pay and employment benefits to Steven Yahnke. 

C. Steven Yahnke’s attorneys’ fees, damages for injuries suffered as a result of the 

attempted termination of Plaintiff from employment; and 

D. For such other relief as this Court deems just and equitable. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

STEVEN YAHNKE 

By:__s/ Cynthia M Rote__________ 

        One of His Attorneys 

Cynthia M. Rote 
William J. Delaney 
Delaney Law, P.C. 
444 North Wabash Avenue 
Suite 300 
Chicago, Illinois 60611 
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